

# Macroeconomy, Economic Bias & Employment

## Exchange Rates and Employment: The Experience of Fast-Growing Economies

Stewart Ngandu October 2005



## EXCHANGE RATES AND EMPLOYMENT – THE EXPERIENCE OF FAST-GROWING ECONOMIES

Stewart Ngandu

Employment Growth & Development Initiative Human Sciences Research Council

October 2005



employment growth & development initiative

employment growth and development initiative

HSRC

## Human Sciences Research Council

October 2005

Produced by: Stewart Ngandu

Contact: Dr Miriam Altman Executive Director, EGDI E-mail: maltman@hsrc.ac.za Tel: +27 12 302 2402

## Contents

Figu	ires	3				
Tabl	les	3				
1.	Introduction	4				
2.	Employment and the exchange rate: a theoretical appraisal6					
3.	. Role of exchange rate policy in Asia7					
4.	4. Shifting priorities and approaches in HPAEs in the 2000s12					
5.	The intermediate option	14				
6.	Exchange rate depreciation and stabilisation	18				
7.	The exchange rate and export-oriented FDI: the international experience	20				
8.	Experiences of other high growth countries	22				
8.	1 Chile	22				
8.	2 Brazil	23				
8.	3 Ireland	24				
9.	Exchange rate regime and performance (inflation and growth)	27				
10	Conclusions	31				

## Figures

Figure 1 – Average growth of GNP per capita, 1965-1990	5
Figure 2 – De facto classification regime distribution by country group,	
1940 - 2001 (in percent of annual observations for each group)	10
Figure 3 – Inflation and exchange rate regime	29

## Tables

Table 1 – Cases of economies with fast growth since 1980	.17
Table 2 - Growth rates, growth volatility and exchange rate regimes	.28



### 1. Introduction

This paper looks at the exchange rate policies of countries that achieved high labourabsorbing growth paths. While exchange rates are only one policy instrument in an employment and growth policy, commonality in policy approach amongst fastgrowing economies might give some pointers to South African thinking on these matters. Some of the questions that the paper seeks to answer include: How important has exchange rate stability and the level been in countries that have achieved higher growth and employment, especially in labour intensive manufacturing? How did they achieve exchange rate stability and how where they able to maintain the rate at levels conducive for exports? What is the relationship between exchange rate regime and economic performance?

The paper looks at countries that experienced high growth these include two Latin American countries (Brazil, 1963 – 73 and Chile), Ireland, and the High Performing Asian Economies ( $HPAEs^1$ ). The reason for focusing on these countries and more so the HPAE experience is based on their history of export performance and the considerable literature that is available on these countries. With respect to the HPAE the Asian Development Bank Institute (ADBI, 2002) says for decades until the crisis hit in mid-1997, East Asian (EA) economies led the developing world in achieving high rates of economic growth, accomplishing what had come to be known as the East Asian Miracle. The ADBI highlights that their success has been the capacity to sustain high export growth over long periods of time. This has involved an on-going process of expanding shares in world markets by increasing the price and quality competitiveness of export products and by specializing in more productive exportable activities that are growing rapidly on world markets. With respect to the role of the exchange rate in the EA miracle Ito and Krueger (1999) go on to say, "The exchange rate is a crucial variable linking a nation's domestic economy to the international market. Thus choice of an exchange rate regime is a central component in the economic policy of developing countries and a key factor affecting economic growth. ... Many East Asian nations maintained exchange rate regimes designed to achieve an attractive climate for exports and an "outer-oriented" development strategy. The result has been rapid and consistent economic growth over the past few decades."

Nelson and Park (1999) further highlight the performance by highlighting that, "over the past 35 years Korea, Taiwan, Singapore and Hong Kong, have transformed themselves from technologically backward and poor, to relatively modern and affluent economies. Each has experienced more than a four fold increase of per capita income over the period." They go on to say, "it took the United Kingdom, the US, France and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Japan; the "The Four Tigers" – Hong Kong, the Republic of Korea, Singapore and Taiwan, China – and the three newly industrializing economies (NIEs) of South East Asia – Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand.

Germany 80 years or more, beginning in the 19th century to achieve such growth although the Japanese did it even more quickly, between 1952 and 1973. Each now has a large number of firms producing technologically complex products competing effectively against rival firms based in the US, Japan and Europe." According to the World Bank (1993) the twenty-three economies of East Asia grew faster than all other regions of the world (figure 1), with the so-called high performing Asian economies (HPAEs) accounting for most of this growth.





#### [Source: World Bank 1993]

The paper will proceed as follows first it will look at the theory behind the relationship between employment and the exchange rate. It then looks at the role of the exchange rate in Asian concentrating on issues of exchange rate policy, the labour absorbing aspect of their growth is taken as a given since it is well documented in the bulk of the literature that looks at the Asian miracle. It will then proceed by looking at the experience of the other high growth countries, with the analysis on Brazil focusing on its period of high growth from the mid 60s to the mid 70s. It will then proceed by looking at exchange rate regimes and economic performance.



# 2. Employment and the exchange rate: a theoretical appraisal

Before going into the empirical literature it is important to try and animate the link between the exchange rate and employment. In a Taylor and Frenkel (2005) framework, the real exchange rate of a country affects the imported price of intermediate goods and with a given labour – capital ratio will also affect the price of capital goods and labour. Therefore the RER determines the economy's unit labour costs in terms of foreign currency. To explore the implications, they consider the effects of a sustained real appreciation on different sectors. Producers of importables will face tougher foreign competition. To stay in business, they will have to cut costs, often by shedding labour. If they fail and close down, more jobs will be destroyed. In the non-traded sector, which will have to absorb labour displaced from the tradable sectors, jobs are less likely to open up insofar as cheaper foreign imports in the form of intermediates and capital goods substitute for domestic labour. On the whole, real appreciation is not likely to induce sustained job creation and could well provoke a big decrease in tradable sector employment. In the case of an RER depreciation, the framework predicts an employment-friendly outcome.

The employment and exchange rate framework by Taylor and Frenkel goes on to emphasize the point that for the appreciation or depreciation to have an impact on employment, the resultant set of relative prices must be expected to stay in place for a relatively long period of time. The rational for this can be explained as follows changes in employment/output ratios will not happen swiftly because they involve restructuring firms and sectoral labour market behaviour. This must take place via changes in the pattern of output among firms and sectors, by shifts in the production basket of each firm and sector, and adjustments in the technology and organization of production. These effects arise from a restructuring process in which individual firms and the organization of economic activity adapt to a new set of relative prices. Gradual adjustment processes are necessarily involved. Finally, in the long run if per capita income is to increase there will have to be sustained labour productivity growth with employment creation supported by even more rapid growth in effective demand (Taylor and Frenkel, 2005).

### 3. Role of exchange rate policy in Asia

This section looks at the contribution of exchange rate stability and the level in countries that achieved higher growth and employment, especially in labour intensive manufacturing. It also looks at how they where able to maintain the rate at levels conducive for exports. Since the break down of the Bretton Woods system it is generally believed that the global economy started moving toward floating exchange rate arrangements. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) classification says only 11% of its member countries are classified as having a pegged exchange rate. In contrast, Calvo and Reinhart (2000) argue that this much-used IMF classification takes at face value that countries actually do what they say they do. With respect to the exchange rate arrangement of East Asian countries Calvo and Reinhart say:

Even a cursory perusal of the Asian crises countries' exchange rates prior to the 1997 crisis would suggest that their exchange rates looked very much like pegs to the US dollar for extended periods of time. Only Thailand, however, was explicitly classified as a peg and one to a basket of currencies at that; the Philippines was listed as having a freely – floating exchange rate, while the others were lumped under the catch all label of managed floating. Today, these countries are classified as floaters, yet, as they vigorously recover from the turmoil of 1997-98, their exchange rates have ceased to fluctuate in any significant way.

In trying to decide whether the official labels of exchange rate classification provide any adequate representation of actual country practice, Calvo and Reinhart examine the behaviour of exchange rates, foreign reserves, monetary aggregates, interest rates, and commodity prices across the range of exchange rate arrangements. They find that countries that say they allow their exchange rate to float mostly do not – there seems to be a "fear of floating." Exchange rate variability is relatively quite low. This low variability of the nominal exchange rate does not signify the absence of real or nominal shocks in these economies. Most of these countries experience large and frequent shocks to their terms of trade more so in the case of commodity exporters. According to Calvo and Reinhart the low relative exchange rate variability stems from deliberate policy actions to stabilize the exchange rate.

They found that reserve volatility is very high; contrary both to what would be expected in a floating exchange rate regime or relative to what is observed in the more committed floaters. Interest rate volatility (both real and nominal) was also found to be significantly high. They argue that the latter suggests that countries are not relying exclusively on foreign exchange market intervention to smooth fluctuations in the exchange rates and that there are chronic credibility problems. Based on these results they argue that because countries that are classified as having a managed float mostly resemble noncredible pegs, the so called "demise of fixed exchange rates" is a myth and that the fear of exchange rate movements is pervasive, even among some of the developed countries. Though Calvo and Reinhart focus on the lack of credibility as one of the major reason why emerging markets (EMs) have a fear of floating they also mention that exchange rate volatility appears to be more damaging to trade in emerging markets (McKibbin and Le, 2002) where trade is predominantly invoiced in US dollars and hedging opportunities are more limited.



Levy-Yeyati and Sturzenegger (2005) also look at the issue of exchange rate classification. They construct a *de facto* classification based on data on exchange rates and international reserves from all IMF-reporting countries over the period 1974–2000, which reflects actual rather than announced policies. They define exchange rate regimes according to the behaviours of three classification variables: changes in the nominal exchange rate, the volatility of these changes, and the volatility of international reserves.

Underlying their selection of these variables is a textbook definition of exchange rate regimes, where fixed exchange rate regimes are associated with changes in international reserves aimed at reducing the volatility in the nominal exchange rate, and flexible regimes are characterized by substantial volatility in nominal rates with relatively stable reserves. Thus, the combined behaviour of these three classification variables should be sufficient to determine the regime to which each country should be assigned at any point in time. They then use cluster analysis, which groups the cases according to similarity in the behaviour of the three variables of reference.

The cluster with high volatility of reserves and low volatility in the nominal exchange rate identifies the group of fixers and, the cluster with low volatility in international reserves and substantial volatility in the nominal exchange rate corresponds to countries with flexible arrangements.

Their results are similar to those of Calvo and Reinhart. They find that the *de facto* pegs have remained stable throughout the last decade, although an increasing number of them shy away from an explicit commitment to a fixed regime ("hidden pegs").

Their study also confirm the "hollowing out hypothesis" that states that intermediate regimes (including conventional pegs) are inherently vulnerable to capital flows and thus bound to disappear in a world with increasingly integrated capital markets. They also find that pure floats are associated with only relatively minor nominal exchange rate volatility that is many countries that claim to float do not allow their nominal exchange rate to move freely, a pattern that Calvo and Reinhart (2000) have referred to as "fear of floating".

According to Rogoff et al (2003) few countries, especially emerging markets and other developing countries, actually allow their exchange rate to float freely (Figure 2). They go on to say that among emerging markets, the proportion of de facto free floaters has remained relatively small at 4-7 percent since the mid-1980s (Figure 2). Even among advanced economies, only about 20 percent allow their currencies to float freely, although close to 40 percent state that they have floating regimes. The figures also show that fewer countries actually peg their exchange rate than announcements would suggest. De facto pegs accounted for about one-third of all de facto regimes in recent years, while de jure pegs comprised about one half all de jure regimes. However, the number of "hard" pegs was significantly higher under the Natural classification than the de jure.

While the proportion of de facto pegs has increased slightly since the early 1990s, this mainly reflected the monetary union in Europe and the adoption of pegs by some of the countries that were previously experiencing freely falling currency values. Interestingly, hard pegs accounted for most of the recent increase in pegs in other

developing countries, while soft pegs accounted for much of the increase among emerging markets. Intermediate regimes have been and continue to be considerably more prevalent than suggested by the de jure classification. While de jure intermediate regimes rose from around 10 percent of all exchange rate regimes in the mid-70s to about a quarter in the late 1990s, the proportion of de facto regimes with an intermediate degree of flexibility has remained at about one half since the mid 1970s.20 Within intermediate regimes, however, managed floats have become more prevalent in emerging markets over the past decade, while other developing countries have tended to move in the opposite direction toward more limited flexibility.

From the above empirical evidence it becomes clear that the most common approach of stabilising the exchange rates of these countries was through the accumulation of reserves. The World Bank (1993) also notes that many of the policies that fostered macroeconomic stability also contributed to rapid export growth. Fiscal discipline and high public savings allowed Japan and Taiwan, China, to undertake extended periods of exchange rate protection. Adjustments to exchange rates in other HPAEs-validated by policies that reduced expenditures-kept them competitive, despite differential inflation with trading partners. The rapid accumulation of reserves is also seen as a sign of the under valuation of a country's currency.

After the 1997 financial crisis in the HPAEs there was general consensus that among other things the system of fixed exchange rate regimes that had been adopted by most EA countries where largely responsible for the crisis. Most of these countries after the crisis found themselves in search of alternative regimes that would both help them recover from the crisis and at the same time regimes that would help them sustain and meet their development goals. According to Rahmatsyah et al (2002) the quest to find a more suitable exchange rate policy became an urgent policy challenge facing the EA economies. For most of these countries, such as Thailand and Indonesia, as reflected by their Letters of Intent (LOIs) signed between them and the International Monetary Fund specified the commitment to shift their exchange rate arrangements to more flexible regimes. However as Mckinnon (2000) has warned the "old habit" of keeping a rigid exchange rate policy remains to be popular in most East Asian economies. Mckinnon shows that East Asian developing countries had pegged their currencies to the US dollar for more than a decade before the break of the 1997 financial crisis and that some of these countries had temporarily relaxed their rigid policy against the US dollar during the period immediately after the break of the 1997 crisis – June 1997 to December.



#### Figure 2 – De facto classification regime distribution by country group, 1940 - 2001 (in percent of annual observations for each group)



Advanced Countries

[Sources: Reinhart and Rogoff (2004) and IMF staff estimates]

Exchange rates and employment: the experience of fast-growing economies

However, driven by the need to stabilize their national currencies and to shield the local markets from the volatilities of the foreign exchange market, the soft-dollar pegged has once again become the exchange rate regime of the EA economies since 1999. Dollar exchange rates, particularly when observed on a high frequency (daily) basis, have become as stable as they were before the crisis. Calvo and Reinhart (2000) showed that during much of the 80s and 90s, the probability that the monthly percentage change of nominal exchange rates for selected EA currencies against the US dollar falls within  $\pm 1$  percent band and  $\pm 2.5$  percent band was in average above 96 percent, with the exception of the Philippines and Singapore which had a probability of 75 and 89 percent, respectively.

According to Mckinnon (1999) there where a number of reasons why these EA economies adopted what he calls the East Asian Dollar Standard. By keying on the dollar, the macroeconomic policies of the crisis economies— Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, Philippines, and Thailand were (loosely) tied to each other— and to those of the non-crisis economies of Hong Kong, Singapore, and Taiwan. Their dollar exchange rates remained fairly stable for more than a decade and, by the purchasing power parity criterion, were more or less correctly aligned with each other and with the American price level. Besides insulating each other from beggar-thy-neighbour devaluations, these informal dollar pegs had successfully anchored their domestic (wholesale) price levels during their remarkably rapid economic growth in the 1980s through 1996. What's more interesting is that in a similar vain, a credible peg of 360 yen to the dollar was the monetary anchor in Japan's own great era of high growth and rapid financial transformation in the 1950s and 1960s.

Bénassy-Quéré (1997) argues that the pegging of Asian currency to the US dollar cannot be justified by the theory of optimal currency areas and as such the peg to the dollar can only be explained in another way. Bénassy-Quéré argues that because their growth heavily relies on the development of exports and on foreign direct investment, monetary authorities seem to stress the stability of the real effective exchange rate as the intermediate target. In such a framework, she shows that pegging to the US dollar is the result of the lack of regional monetary cooperation: each country chooses to peg the US dollar because this is the choice of its Asian partners. As North America and Asian partners other than Japan account for more than a half of foreign trade of each Asian country, this choice leads to a relatively stable external competitiveness.



# 4. Shifting priorities and approaches in HPAEs in the 2000s

This section serves to highlight the important point that policies are time bound and, what seems appropriate in one phase of growth and development may not be the case in another. This is certainly true for most East Asian economies whose trade structure has changed over the past few years. As such there is growing concern that the old system of pegging against the dollar might no longer be appropriate given the increase in intra regional trade among Asian economies, their reliance on Japan for intermediate inputs and their growing ven debt (Beng, Gan Wee, 2000). Since the 1997 crisis, a significant number of studies (see Slavov, 2004; McKibbin and Le, 2002; Michael et al., 2001; Williamson, 2000; Bénassy-Quéré, 1997) on HPAEs have focused on the appropriate exchange rate regime for the region. McKibbin and Le (2002) reviewed the literature on studies that attempt to come up with an appropriate exchange rate regime for Asia and found that most of these studies have relied on simulating various hypothesized basket fixed exchange rate regimes to determine the effect on various economic indicators. Some have hypothesized the impact of increasing the weighting of the Yen in the basket to take cognisance of the prominent role the Yen plays with respect to the imports of these countries.

In their paper on a framework for exchange rate policy in Korea, Michael et al. (2001) show that Korea should remain with its managed exchange rate regime which it introduced after the crisis but should add inflation targeting and should make the criterion for sterilized intervention explicit. Their proposal is that interest rate policy be used to attain a "flexible" inflation target. Flexibility in this context means that the authorities also care about short-run fluctuations in domestic output and employment. The less powerful policy tool, sterilized intervention in the foreign exchange market, would be used to limit day to day changes in exchange rates. They argue that the government should continue to be an important participant in the foreign exchange market but not attempt to establish a level for the exchange rate. Intervention should be triggered by exchange rate volatility but constrained by an announced target for the government's overall net foreign asset position. Their overall conclusion is that while there are good arguments both for intermediate regimes and hard pegs these regimes are not consistent with Korea's current circumstances. They go on to say in the absence of explicit rules for floating and inflation targeting it seems likely that that policy will drift toward a return to an adjustable peg regime prone to crises.

In another study on the appropriate exchange rate regime for Asia McKibbin and Le (2002) provide some empirical evidence on the impacts of alternative regimes using a global empirical model (G-Cubed (Asia-Pacific) model) containing considerable detail on individual Asian economies including both sectoral dis-aggregation for each economy, macroeconomic features, and the linkages between countries in the region through international trade of goods and financial assets. The exchange rate regimes compared are floating exchange rates throughout Asia (with each central bank targeting inflation) and three forms of fixed exchange rates: a basket peg in which each Asian economy pegs their exchange rate to a basket of the Euro, \$US and Yen (with Japan pegging to a basket of the Euro and \$US); a Yen zone in which each

Asian economy pegs their exchange rate to the Yen (and the Bank of Japan targets inflation); and an Asian Currency Unit in which a single currency circulates in Asia and an Asian central bank targets average Asia-wide inflation. They consider a number of shocks to test the performance of each regime, the shocks considered are shocks to aggregate demand, aggregate supply and economy wide risk that are either global, Asia wide or country specific. Their overall findings is that no regime dominates for all shocks but the regimes of floating and a basket peg to the \$US, Euro and yen generally perform better than the Asian currency union on Yen zone regimes.



### 5. The intermediate option

The studies in the previous section seem to be proposing some variant of a basket peg in one way or another, with Michael et al. (2001) suggesting that for Korea mild sterilized intervention in the foreign exchange market, can be used to limit day to day changes in exchange rates. Looking at the intermediate option does not imply that this paper is advocating for such a system of exchange rate management but rather it is included to highlight its central role in the HPAEs debate on exchange rate policy. Almost a decade after the East Asian crisis the corner solutions argument also known as the disappearing middle hypothesis has remained a central part of exchange rate policy debate. The debate on exchange rate policy has also centred around what position a country should occupy on this continuum. The above views of an intermediate option are also echoed by Williamson (2000) who believes that this form of exchange rate policy is important for emerging countries. In his book, which is an attempt to revive the intermediate option his main proposal with specific reference to Asia is the use of the basket, band and crawl (BBC) rules for exchange rate management among other intermediate options. Central to the BBC is the need for the monetary authorities to be able to come up with techniques to estimate the fundamental equilibrium exchange rate and whether the variables that could be deployed to influence the exchange rate can do so without having side effects that exceed there benefits. As to the accuracy of such an exercise Williamson argues that the IMF has been making such calculations to guide its own internal decision making since the European Exchange Rate Mechanism Crisis. He goes on to say that no one has confidence that such estimates can be made accurately but precision is not needed to provide useful guidance, given the size of the swings that unmanaged exchange rates have exhibited.

Williamson (2000) then goes on to give a very compelling comparison of what he considers to be a good case of how misalignments can have a significant impact on the economic performance of a country. His analysis looks at India and New Zealand. According to him the former was a good example of a "sclerotic economy" until it implemented microeconomic reforms in 1991. Besides having several fundamental macroeconomic problems it had a heavily managed floating exchange rate and a pragmatic monetary policy. Against all this, Williamson goes to note that India suffered only 1 year of recession in 1991 – 1992, before bouncing back to near its growth rate (5.3% in 1992-93), and then accelerating in the mid-1990s to achieve 3 years of consecutive growth of more than 7 percent.

On the other hand New Zealand was the most "sclerotic" of the countries in the OECD in 1984, when it initiated a much needed liberalisation of its economy. Its microeconomic reforms were accompanied by a policy of a free floating exchange rate, monetary tightening, slow restoration of fiscal discipline and removal of all controls on capital inflows. According to Williamson, these where the kind of reforms that excited Wall Street and as such prompted a capital inflows and a large appreciation of the nominal and the real exchange rate and as such induced a large current account deficit and a slowdown in growth. Per capita income stagnated for 8 years after the initiation of the reform, while unemployment rose from 2 to 11%, income distribution became noticeably more unequal, and the foreign debt built up to

more than 80% of GDP. It was only in 1992 that New Zealand's inflation fell to less than 2%, which had been mandated as the unique objective of the central bank, and thus permit an easing of monetary policy, which brought the exchange rate back to a realistic level that permitted a resumption of growth. In the 7 years following the initiation of microeconomic liberalisation, the growth rate averaged only 0.3%, a full 2% less than the average 2.3 percent growth during the 10 years before the initiation of reform. According to Williamson though growth did finally come in the 1990s it was significantly slower than India.

In trying to explain this difference in the impact of reforms in the two countries Williamson contends that the obvious explanation is in their very differing macroeconomic policy stances, of which their differing exchange rate policies were an integral part. India managed the exchange rate with the objective of maintaining competitiveness and it chose a policy of accumulating reserves, a fiscal-monetary mix and controls on capital inflows that were all reasonably consistent with that objective. New Zealand on the other hand made no attempt to intervene by building reserves and limiting the capital inflows attracted by "an ideological stance congenial to Wall Street" and by not seeking a fiscal-monetary mix consistent with maintaining competitiveness.

Williamson then goes on to support his claim by noting that one factor that appears on almost everyone's list of explanations of the East Asian miracle was the policy of maintaining competitive exchanges rates. He goes on to argue that it is the potential inability of East Asia to achieve the pre-crisis growth rate in their post crisis era of reasonably free floating regimes that underlies the wide spread "fear of floating. Williamson also suggests that once Wall Street discovers a country that has implemented good policies such as the removal of capital controls as was the case in New Zealand the capital inflows will certainly follow. These will push the domestic currency up and undermine the competitiveness of its tradable goods industries as happened in the latter country thus either discouraging overall investment and bringing the boom to a quick halt or else redirect investment toward the non-traded goods industries and making the boom so "lopsided" that it will lead to a balance of payments crisis after a somewhat longer period.

Of these cases, 17 out of 33 had de jure or de facto pegged exchange rates, two (Argentina and Hong Kong) had a hard fixed exchange rate backed up by a currency board. Two (Chile, 1987-89, and Indonesia) had crawling pegs, and three (Chile, 1991-93 and 1995-97, and Poland) had crawling bands. Leaving 9 cases of floating rates, of which in at least 7 (India, South Korea, 1981-89 and 1994-96; Malaysia; Taiwan, 1986-89 and 1991-95; and Turkey) the rate was heavily managed. The two cases of economies with a reasonably freely floating exchange rate achieving rapid growth were Peru in 1995-97 and Uganda in 1993-96. Based on Calvo and Reinhart (2000) even these latter cases are questionable cases of free floating.

In his paper on growth policies in developing countries Rodrik (2004) narrates the disappointing history of reforms in developing countries in the 1980s and 1990s. He notes that economic growth in those countries that adopted the "stabilise, liberalise and privatise" approach remained low in absolute terms. Economic and productivity growth in Latin America was slow in the 1990s and this picture was much worse in the period 1950 - 1980. He goes on to say, "This puzzle would be even more distressing if it were not the case that some of the poorest and most populous countries in the world have done amazingly well in the last two decades. China ...,



with an average economic growth rate since 1980 of around 9 percent in per capita terms, a stupendous performance. ... India has managed to engineer its own smaller-scale miracle as well, doubling its growth rate since 1980. ...". Simply put according to Rodrik the most successful growth performers have followed heterodox policies.

Country	Period	Average	Exchange rate regime
Poland	1995 - 97	6.7	Crawling band
Chile	1991 - 93	9.1	Crawling band
Chile	1995 - 97	8.4	Crawling band
Indonesia	1988 - 96	7.9	Crawling peg
Chile	1987 - 89	8.2	Crawling peg
Argentina	1991 - 94	8.5	Currency board
Hong Kong	1986 - 89	10.7	Currency board
China	1982 - 88	11.3	De facto peg
China	1991 - 97	11.2	De facto peg
Peru	1993 - 96	9.0	Float
Uganda	1993 - 96	8.9	Float
India	1994 - 96	7.6	Managed float
Malaysia	1988 - 97	8.8	Managed float
Turkey	1995 - 97	7.3	Managed float
South Korea1	1981 - 89	9.1	Managed float1
Taiwan	1986 - 89	10.1	Managed float
Taiwan	1991 - 95	6.6	Managed float
South Korea	1994 - 96	8.2	Managed float
Angola	1995 - 97	10.2	Pegged
Cameroon	1981 - 86	9.0	Pegged
Egypt	1982 - 86	7.5	Pegged
El Salvador	1992 - 96	6.8	Pegged
Mozambique	1987 - 89	9.8	Pegged
Myanmar	1992 - 96	7.3	Pegged
Nigeria	1988 - 91	8.4	Pegged
Pakistan	1980 - 83	7.9	Pegged
Rwanda	1995 - 97	19.8	Pegged
Slovak Republic	1995 - 97	6.7	Pegged
Syria	1990 - 95	7.5	Pegged
Thailand	1987 - 95	9.9	Pegged
Uganda	1988 - 90	7.0	Pegged
Venezuela	1990 - 92	7.4	Pegged
Vietnam	1991 - 97	8.4	Pegged

#### Table 1 – Cases of economies with fast growth since 1980

[Source: Williamson 2000 (World Bank)]



#### 6. Exchange rate depreciation and stabilisation

This section briefly looks at the sequencing of exchange rate intervention with respect to exchange rate movements. It focuses on how depreciation impacts on exports, that is, should exchange rate intervention focus on the level or should it also deal with the question of volatility. It has long been part of a typical World Bank prescription that developing economies depreciate their currency with the aim of promoting exports. The question as to whether a depreciation increases exports has not been conclusively resolved in the literature. Fang et al (2005) argue that exchange rate movements affect exports through its depreciation and its variability (risk). A depreciation raises exports by lowering the foreign currency price of exports, but the associated exchange rate risk could offset the positive effect. Some studies find that a depreciation decreases exports (Filiztekin, 2004) whilst others find evidence to the contrary (see Nucci and Pozzolo, 2004; Frenkel, 2004; Sekkat and Varoudakis, 2002; Sauer and Bohara, 2001). Golub and Ceglowski (2002) calculate South African real equilibrium exchange rates (REERs) and examine the quantitative relationships between these REERs and trade in manufactured goods. The main findings by Golub and Ceglowski indicate that for the REER series as a group, South African competitiveness worsened in the early 1980s then improved dramatically in the mid-1980s. There was a period of real appreciation around 1992. The rest of the 1990s have witnessed a substantial real depreciation, which was associated with an increase in the proportion of exports as a percentage of GDP.

The empirical evidence on the effects of exchange rate risk is also mixed. Mckenzie (1998) finds that the impact of exchange volatility differs between traded good sectors although one of the conclusions was that it remains difficult to firmly establish the nature of the relationship. De Vita and Abbott (2004) find that UK exports to the EU14 at both aggregate and sectoral level are generally income elastic, relative price inelastic and largely unaffected by short term ER volatility. Re-estimation of the model using a long-term measure of volatility however provides evidence supporting the hypothesis that ER uncertainty has a negative and significant influence on UK exports to EU countries.

There is a view that sees exchange rate risk as a greater constraint to exports growth, providing the rationale for foreign exchange policies that focus on reducing exchange rate fluctuations. Fang et al (2005) explore the possible respective impacts of currency depreciation versus volatility for eight Asian countries. In the sample, every country experienced depreciation and export growth, on average. Thailand experienced the highest average export growth at 1.031% with a depreciation of 0.196%. Indonesia experienced the highest monthly depreciation at 0.336% with an export growth of 0.486%. It appears that depreciation encourages exports, on average, but with different effects. They go on to note that its contribution to export growth is weak. Exchange rate risk contributes to export growth in Malaysia and the Philippines, leading to positive net effects. Exchange rate risk generates a negative effect for six of the countries, resulting in a negative net effect in Indonesia, Japan, Singapore, Taiwan and a zero net effect in Korea and Thailand. Their overall conclusion is that since the negative effect of exchange rate risk may offset, or even dominate, positive contributions from depreciation, policy makers need to reduce exchange rate

fluctuations along with and possibly before efforts to depreciate the currency. In the South African case this means that the SARB will have to resolve the current volatility of the exchange rate before addressing issues related to its level. Another important conclusion from the study is that little guarantee exists that exchange market intervention will succeed, since exporters react differently to the exchange rate and its associated risk. Furthermore, conditions vary across countries and each requires evaluation on its own merits.



# 7. The exchange rate and export-oriented FDI: the international experience

The exchange rate affects foreign direct investment (FDI) in two ways: the level of the exchange rate and its variability. According to Bénassy-Quéré *et al* (1999) if the investor aims at serving the local market, FDI and trade are substitutes. An appreciation of the local currency increases FDI inflows due to higher purchasing power of the local consumers. Conversely, a depreciation in the real exchange rate of the recipient country increases FDI through reduced cost of capital. Alternatively, if FDI aims at producing for re-export, it complements trade, and an appreciation of the local currency reduces FDI inflows through lower competitiveness (higher labour costs). Then there is exchange rate variability which affects FDI through the option to wait, in the line of Dixit and Pindyick (1994), in the presence of uncertainty and sunk costs. Notwithstanding such an option, exchange rate volatility affects FDI in various ways. Producing on the destination market is a good substitute to exports if there is a strong uncertainty on exchange rates. However, if the production is partially re-exported this benefit vanishes.

It is interesting to note that along side the growth in East Asian exports there was a surge in FDI inflows a phenomena that has come to be known as the trade – FDI nexus where high export growth has become increasingly linked to surging FDI inflows and deeper regional economic integration (ADBI, 2002). According to the ADBI from 1985 to 1995, the merchandise exports of nine EA2 economies grew by 15 percent per year compared to a rate of 10 percent for world exports, while inward-FDI to the 9 EA economies expanded by 29 percent annually compared to 19 percent worldwide. These economies also outperformed global trends most profoundly from 1990 to 1995, maintaining robust export and FDI growth while world growth rates remained moderate. The latter raises an important issue for South Africa with respect to exchange rate variability and the potential for attracting export growth through FDI.

There seem to be little consensus as to what the impact of exchange rate variability has on FDI inflows. On the one hand, most theoretical models give an ambiguous picture of how exchange rate uncertainty and volatility affect the direction and magnitude of FDI inflows (Russ, 2002; Russ, 2005). On the other hand a number of empirical studies have found a negative relationship (Kiyota and Urata 2004; Brzozowski, 2003). Brzozowski (2003) analyzes theoretically and empirically the likely impact of the reduction in exchange rate uncertainty, due to the EMU accession, on the intensity of FDI inflows into candidate countries. He finds that exchange rate uncertainty and volatility may negatively influence the decision to locate investment in transition and accession countries. Furthermore he finds that nominal exchange rate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hong Kong, China; Korea; Singapore; Taipei, China; Indonesia; Malaysia; Philippines; Thailand and the People's Republic of China

Exchange rates and employment: the experience of fast-growing economies

uncertainty seems to particularly hamper FDI inflows in accession countries. The key finding of his study is that euro adoption is likely to exert a positive influence on FDI inflows in accession countries.

Kiyota and Urata (2004) review studies which have looked at the relationship between the exchange rate and FDI, breaking overall FDI inflows into thirteen separate industries, they found that all of the thirteen coefficients on the exchange rate presented negative signs, indicating that depreciation leads to greater FDI, and five of them were statistically significant. On the relationship between exchange rate volatility and FDI Kiyota and Urata note that compared with the studies analysing the effects of exchange rate and other variables, there have been only few studies that empirically examined the impacts of exchange rate volatility on FDI. Although the effects of the exchange rate on FDI are generally robust in that the depreciation of the host currency promotes FDI inflows to that country, the impacts of exchange rate volatility on FDI have been shown to be ambiguous. They go on to examine the impact of the changes in the real exchange rate and its volatility on FDI. Examining Japan's FDI by industries, they found that the depreciation of the currency of the host country attracted FDI, while the high volatility of the exchange rate discouraged FDI. Their results suggest the need to avoid over-valuation of the exchange rate and to maintain stable but flexible exchange rate in order to attract FDI.

As for the relationship between export performance and FDI Pain and Wakelin (1997) examine the relationship between the location of production and the trade performance of 11 OECD countries since 1971. They try and answer the following questions; has national export performance, that is exports relative to foreign market size, been affected by FDI? Does an increase in either inward or outward FDI raise or lower exports compared to the level they would otherwise have achieved given the level of foreign demand and other characteristics of domestically produced goods? They use a standard export demand model which was extended to include relative prices, market size and measures of relative innovation, with indicators of both inward and outward investment levels. They find that the sign and magnitude of the direct investment effects vary by country. Outward investment has a generally negative impact on trade shares, while inward investment has a generally positive one.



## 8. Experiences of other high growth countries

For details of the following case studies please see Berry's (2005) paper on high growth in developing countries.

#### 8.1 Chile

Chile has an interesting economic history whose performance in the past and even up to now is still influenced by its mineral endowment. It is this feature of Chile that makes its story of significant relevance to South Africa. For the bulk of the post war period Chile was a slow growth country with a falling growth rate that started in the 20s, averaging about 4.1% during the 1960s and 3.6% over the 1970s. Savings where low which probably explained the low rate of investment, there was wide spread import-substitution with very high rates of protection for some products. At the time Chile's mineral endowment prevented it from venturing into the production of other tradables. This caused a lot of employment challenges for Chile in that by 1970 nearly half (46.7%) of Chile's employment was in services with only 23.2% in agriculture and about 20% in manufacturing (Mamalakis, 1976, 11, 165) in Berry (2005). However, from the mid-70s to the early 80s Chile experienced a boom which was described as unsustainable some of the reasons for this where a large balance of payments deficit created by maintenance of a fixed nominal exchange rate which eventually became severely overvalued but also, according to some authors, because of the "artificial" character of the growth. After this first wave of growth Chile experienced a second wave of growth which has been sustained. As for the employment picture during 1973-84 employment rose by 12% (just over 1% per year) whereas over 1985-93 the increase was of 46.7% (4.35% per year), for a more detailed description of the evolution of unemployment/employment in Chile see Berry. According to Berry (2005) some of the reasons for the recent growth acceleration included the role of export growth in the overall take-off; the sources of rising investment and savings rates, including the impact of FDI and of the reform of the pension system to an individual capitalization model; and the factors which led to the rapid growth of exports, e.g. the relative roles played by the dramatic trade and other market reforms undertaken and the way they were implemented vs. the role of the exchange rate and other forms of support.

The latter thus highlights the two main schools of thought with respect to Chiles growth one that attributes growth to the correct sequencing of macro policies and the other to the role of the exchange rate. Though these schools differ in there focus on what contributed to the growth in Chile it is however undeniable that the exchange rate played an important role in the lasting boom from the early 80s on. For example, Ffrench-Davis (2002, 181) in Berry (2005) sees the export take-off after 1982 as much healthier, based on a sharply depreciated and relatively stable real exchange rate and a more pragmatic and flexible trade reform. Like many other countries, Chile has on occasion used the exchange rate as a tool to fight inflation, accounting for the real appreciation from 1976 on. After the disastrous pegging of the nominal rate to the dollar (leading to the crisis of the early 1980s) and some experimentation in its wake, a

crawling peg was adopted in 1983 and used thereafter. The real exchange rate almost doubled between 1980-82 and 1986-89 (Ffrench-Davis, 2002, 168). Meanwhile some protection was provided for importables and non-traditional exportables, more use made of anti-dumping regulations and price bands set for three main agricultural products, wheat, sugar and oil seeds.

#### 8.2 Brazil

Brazil's economic performance in recent years has been less than satisfactory it might be interesting to look at the period when it experienced a period of high growth (1968 -73), the growth acceleration itself started in 1963. Brazil has always had a colourful political history which to a great extent influenced its macroeconomic performance; one of these problems with respect to its currency was exchange rate overvaluation which posed a permanent threat endangered by the co-existence of inflation with fixed exchange rates. According to Berry (2005) as Brazil accelerated from its slowgrowth (at 3.4%) interval (1963-67) to the fast growth (9.4%) period 1968-1976 the investment ratio rose less than in most other cases of acceleration, from 16.0% to 21.6%, although by the end of the fast-growth period it had reached nearly 25%. And unlike most of the other cases, Brazil's fast growth episode did not appear to be based on exports, the export to GDP ratio having stayed nearly constant--6.9% in the slow growth period and 6.5% in the fast growth phase. In keeping with that constancy, there was not much difference in the real exchange rate between the two periods. As such it can be seen that the case of Brazil during its period of high growth stands in sharp contrast to that of the East Asian economies in that the real exchange rate did not play a major role. Some of the reason that have be given to explain Brazil's growth include; the fact that growth was achieved with a high and rising marginal output/capital ratio, suggesting generally effective resource use and allocation; it was aided by the ability to draw into production previously excess capacity; and both the acceleration and the subsequent strong growth over the remainder of the 1970s took place under repressive military regimes but with strong economic technocrats at the helm.

It should, however, be noted that though the exchange rate is rarely quoted as being an important component of the Brazilian miracle it should however be emphasised that according to Berry (2005) a key step facilitating export success was the adoption of a crawling peg exchange rate in 1968; this allowed a stable real exchange rate over the Miracle years, in spite of the political sensitivity of the exchange rate which made it hard to devalue rapidly. Berry goes on to note that paradoxically, the real exchange rate was higher (more appreciated) during the Miracle years than either in the immediately preceding or succeeding years, due to the large inflows of capital during the period. Still, exports grew faster (25% per year in current dollar terms) than before or after. In part this was due to various types of subsidies for exportables. The real exchange rate was also much more stable at this time than before or since, suggesting (consistent with much literature) the importance for such stability for strong growth of the tradables sector. According to Berry (2005) by 1973 the economy was operating at close to full capacity. Industrial output rose at about 15% per year and. employment at almost 9%--so this growth burst certainly created many jobs; by 1974 employment in that sector was nearly 70% higher than in 1967.



#### 8.3 Ireland

The Irish experience requires special mention as it offers important lessons as to how a country can increase its export oriented FDI in manufacturing. According to Barry (1999) after Ireland's economic collapse in the late 1950s a lot of fundamental and farreaching policy changes where made. These saw the adoption of free trade and the replacement of policies that prohibited foreign ownership of firms with a policy that systematically cultivated FDI through a zero corporate profits tax on manufactured exports (replaced over the course of the 1980s by a flat rate of 10 per cent on all manufacturing) and attractive investment grants. In the following decades Ireland witnessed quite phenomenal growth of export-oriented FDI in manufacturing, from a zero base in the late 1950s to a situation where almost 65 per cent of gross output and over 45 per cent of employment in manufacturing is in foreign-owned export-oriented firms. It is also interesting to note that FDI inflows into Ireland have not gone primarily into sectors in which the economy had a traditional comparative advantage. Ireland actually had a revealed comparative disadvantage in some of the sectors such as Chemicals, Metals and Engineering, which have attracted strong FDI inflows (Barry, 1999). In trying to explain the Sectoral destination of such flows, Barry, notes that from the Irish experience and that of a number of other countries it appears that manufacturing-sector FDI goes largely into sectors in which there are firm-level increasing returns to scale.3 As for productivity, job length and export orientation Barry notes that foreign plants in Ireland are predominately of US, UK and German ownership. They have a much higher propensity to import their material inputs, are more export oriented (with only the UK plants having any significant reliance on the domestic market), and are larger, more productive and (with the exception of German MNCs) more profitable than the indigenous plants. In Ireland the average duration of a manufacturing sector job is higher (at 13 years) in the foreign sector than in the indigenous sector (where it is 10 years). The results available for Spain are quite similar to those for Ireland.

Barry (1999) shows that foreign owned firms spend most of their expenditures on services, in contrast to indigenous firms that spend most of they expenditure on materials. O'Malley (1995) in his study then shows that it is for this reason, there is more employment created per manufacturing-sector job, by the backward linkages of foreign firms than of indigenous firms. There are increasing numbers of both service sector and indigenous-manufacturing jobs associated with every 100 jobs in foreign manufacturing employment for overseas industry increased from 93 secondary jobs in services per 100 direct manufacturing jobs in 1983 to 105 per 100 in 1992. He approximates that the number of jobs in indigenous manufacturing producing industrial products for overseas industry rose from 10 to 13 per 100 overseas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Increasing Returns Sectors in Ireland; Vehicles, Other transport, Chemicals, Man-made fibres, Metals, Office machinery, Mechanical Engineering, Electrical Engineering, Ins. Engineering, Pulp paper, Clay production, Cement etc., Glass, glass wear, Rubber production, Brewing, Tobacco, Cocoa, chocolate, Other foods.

manufacturing jobs over the same period. For indigenous industry the trend is less monotonic; nevertheless, after falling between 1983 and 1990, the number of secondary service jobs per 100 indigenous manufacturing jobs rose each year thereafter up to the end of his sample period, 1992.

Still on the issue of the exchange rate and FDI Bénassy-Quéré et al (1999) look at the exchange rate strategies that are used by different countries to attract FDI. Their analysis is motivated by the need of most developing countries to starve off destabilising short term capital flows (portfolio investment) by encouraging long term flows (FDI) and the fact that the debate on the way to re-orient capital flows towards long term financing (through microeconomic reforms or capital controls) does not generally include the choice of an exchange-rate regime. They argue that the exchange rate regime influences foreign direct investors more than portfolio investors and hence the composition of capital flows since portfolio investors should be indifferent to the exchange rate regime as far as derivative markets allow them to hedge. But foreign direct investors should worry about the exchange rate regime, because they cannot hedge at their horizon and are mainly interested in macroeconomic variables such as relative labour costs or purchasing power. They fill the exchange rate regime gap by developing a model where the choice of an exchange-rate regime is reconsidered by integrating the determinants of multinational firms' locations. They consider the case of a risk-adverse multinational firm, which contemplates relocating to two alternative foreign locations in order to re-export. Their analysis explicitly models the trade-off between price competitiveness and a stable nominal exchange rate. Looking at a panel of 42 developing countries receiving FDI from 17 OECD countries, over 1984-1996 the results confirm the importance of the exchange-rate regime. Specifically, nominal exchange rate instability is detrimental to foreign direct investment, and its impact compares with that of misalignments. In addition, from the perspective of the host country, the correlation between its bilateral exchange rate against the origin country and the one of alternative locations has a sizable impact on inward FDI.

The findings of Bénassy-Quéré *et al* (1999) draw very important policy prescriptions for any developing country that is trying to grow its export oriented FDI. Their results draw three policy implications, which they illustrate through numerical simulations. Firstly, the exchange-rate instability induced by a free-floating regime is detrimental to FDI inflows, even if it prevents the real exchange rate to appreciate. They reach this conclusion after comparing four4 stylised exchange rate regimes for the recipient country. The "successful currency board" appears the best regime for attracting FDI, because the real exchange rate stays constant without any nominal exchange rate volatility. However, in evaluating each exchange rate regime, it should be stressed that exchange rate stability has a sizable impact on FDI, which compares to the impact of price competitiveness. Secondly, each country should stabilize its currency against the country or area, which would potentially be its major FDI supplier. Lastly, and overall, the building of currency blocs could be a way of increasing FDI to emerging countries, since if would allow investors to diversify the exchange rate risk across various locations. Looking at the first two policy prescriptions it becomes easier to see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Currency board, the fixed exchange rate regime, the crawling peg or managed floating regime and the free-floating regime.



how the East Asian economies managed to attract so much FDI inflows. Firstly, the destabilising impact of free floating exchange rates was avoided by pegging their currencies and secondly, they all pegged to the US dollar which was their major trading partner. The third policy implication is in line with the above conclusion by Brzozowski (2003) that euro adoption is likely to exert a positive influence on FDI inflows in accession countries.

# 9. Exchange rate regime and performance (inflation and growth)

Though the relationship between economic performance and the exchange has been explored in a number of studies the direct channel of causality still has to be established. According to Ghosh et al, (1996) although the theoretical relationships are ambiguous, empirical evidence suggests a strong link between the choice of the exchange rate regime and macroeconomic performance. Adopting a pegged exchange rate can lead to lower inflation, but it can also lead to slower productivity growth. The low rate of inflation is associated with the political costs of abandoning the peg and as such induces tighter policies. In their paper which uses a detailed classification of the exchange rate regime they find that countries that choose fixed exchange rates achieve lower inflation with an average annual inflation rate of 8 percent, compared with 14 percent for intermediate regimes, and 16 percent for floating regimes, see figure 3 below. On the other hand according to the IMF (1997) the major difference between economic performance between pegged and floating exchange rate regimes is with respect to inflation without a corresponding clear cut relationship between the regime and growth. The median growth appeared to be higher in the 90s for countries that had a flexible exchange rate, however, this was due to the inclusion of the fast growing Asian economies. The latter highlights a weakness in the IMFs analysis which only looks at the distinction between pegged and flexible, where the former comprises arrangements in which the domestic currency is pegged to a single foreign currency or to a basket of currencies, including the SDR. With the latter consisting of arrangements in which the exchange rate is officially classified as "managed" or "independently floating." Therefore this narrow definition does not allow one to see the difference in the performance of managed floats and pegged regimes. Another weakness with the exchange rate regime classification which is used by the IMF is that it is derived from the de facto classification which assume that countries do what they say they do.

There is also a link, albeit weaker, between the exchange rate regime and the growth of output. To the extent that fixing the exchange rate engenders greater policy confidence, it can foster higher investment. Conversely, a fixed rate, if set at the "wrong" level, can result in a misallocation of resources. They also found that countries that maintained pegged exchange rates did indeed have higher investment, although productivity grew more slowly than in countries with floating exchange rates. Overall, per capita growth was slightly lower in countries with pegged exchange rates.

In a study by Levy-Yeyati and Sturzenegger (2003) which tried to provide evidence on the implications of the choice of a particular exchange rate regime on economic growth they find evidence that sharply contrasts previous findings. They results strongly suggest that exchange rate regimes indeed matter in terms of real economic performance for non-industrial countries, while this link appears to be much weaker for industrial economies. In particular, they find that, for the 20 former countries, fixed exchange rate regimes are connected with slower growth rates and higher output volatility, an association that proved to be robust to several alternative specifications and checks.



In a recent study by Dubas et al (2005) which also looked at exchange rate regime and growth the results show a different picture to those obtained by Levy-Yeyati and Sturzenegger. Table 2 shows data listed by mean GDP growth and volatility sorted by exchange rate regime. It shows that intermediate regime countries have the highest mean growth rate. Non industrialized countries with an effective intermediate classification also have the lowest volatility in GDP growth. As a group, effective fixers have the second highest growth rate and effective floaters had the lowest growth rates.

7 11 0	<b>^</b> 1	.1 1 .•1•.	1 1	•
1 a b a 7 -	-rowth rates	or ow th volatility	and ovehange	rato roamos
I a D C 2 -	UTOWITT TAILS.	$\gamma$	and exchange	rate regimes
		8-0		

	All Countries		Industrialized		Non - Industrialized	
Classification	Growth	Volatility	Growth	Volatility	Growth	Volatility
Floaters	0.845	3.596	2.048	1.911	0.570	3.988
Intermediates	1.948	2.784	2.223	1.961	1.768	3.323
Fixers	1.687	3.692	2.144	1.640	1.603	4.092

[Source: Dubas et al (2005)]

Dubas et al (2005) verify the above by using an econometric procedure which considers regressions of per capita growth on a set of growth control variables and a set of exchange rate regime dummies. An estimation of the random-effects panel regressions reveals that that the highest growth rates are associated with de facto fixers. With all countries in the sample, the coefficient on the fixer dummy is significant with effective fixers growing a bit more than 1 percent faster than effective floaters. For industrialized countries, the coefficients on the regime dummies are positive and suggest slower growth for effective floaters than effective intermediates and fixers, but these estimates are not statistically significant.



#### Figure 3 – Inflation and exchange rate regime



For non-industrialized countries, they obtain a significant estimate of the coefficient on the fixer dummy. They go on to note that if this is a causal relationship, their estimates would imply that switching from a float to a fix would increase per capita growth by 1.3 percent. To shade more light on the above results they go on to replace

the regime dummies with an index of exchange rate stability: They obtain positive



point estimates in the regressions that are significant in the full sample and for non industrialized countries. A unit increase in the stability index (higher means more stability) is associated with nearly a 1/2 percent increase in per capita growth. They go on to say the above results are in line with much of the extant literature and are consistent with research that has found trade benefits from currency blocs.

There is also evidence in the literature that seems to suggest that there might be a link between the choice of exchange rate regime and the level of economic development of a country, with the specific exchange rate option being largely determined by the economic need of the country at that level of development (Huang and Malhotra, 2004, Rogoff et al, 2003). In a study by Rogoff et al (2003) as economies mature, the value of exchange rate flexibility rises. The advantages of exchange rate flexibility increase as a country becomes more integrated into global capital markets and develops a sound financial system. Free floats have, on average, registered faster growth than other regimes in advanced countries, without incurring higher inflation. Conversely, in developing countries with limited access to private external capital, pegs and other limited–flexibility arrangements have been associated with lower inflation, without an apparent cost in terms of lower growth or higher growth volatility.

However, in emerging market economies with higher exposure to international capital flows, the more rigid regimes have had a higher incidence of crises. Huang and Malhotra's (2004) major finding is that for developing and emerging Asian economies, the choice of regime does affect the economic growth rate non-linearly-managed float outperforms other regimes – but do not affect the variability of growth. They findings suggest that not only but also how the choice of exchange rate regime affects economic growth critically depends on the level of development of that economy. Dubas et al (2005) use an econometric procedure to obtain de facto exchange rate regime classifications. They then use these de facto classifications to analysis the relationship between exchange rate regimes and growth. They find that growth is higher under stable currency-value regimes and that countries that exhibit `fear of floating' experience significantly higher growth. Though they are exchange classification issues in Maier's (2005) study, one of the overall conclusions is that positive effects of intermediate regimes of the Reinhart/Rogoff (2003) classification in developing countries should be emphasized, showing at least a tendency to not negative and possible positive effects of intermediate regimes on the poorest 40 percent in developing countries.

## **10** Conclusions

Several conclusions can be drawn from the above literature; firstly, the structure of the global economy has changed significantly ever since the East Asian countries started they out-ward oriented development strategies. With respect to the challenges that emerging economies might face in trying to implement HPAEs type policies Weiss (2005) makes a very important distinction between least developed countries and emerging economies, which reflects differences in their broad industrial structure and subsequent industrialisation strategies. In the lower income group exports tend to be dominated by primary products and as such industrialization has proceeded only very slowly. The different needs of today's least developed economies, and those with low incomes that do not fall exactly into this category, are recognized by their differential treatment in the WTO. For this group the policy lesson is that some of the measures of industrial policy used successfully in the NIEs- like export subsidies and measures to support new producers- still have a role to play at a relatively early stage of industrialization and can be used effectively to encourage a diversification of exports and the expansion of new manufactures. These do not contravene WTO regulations. For higher income emerging economies like South Africa, however, the agenda will differ and the objective will be to successfully upgrade the export structure and move up the ladder of comparative advantage. According to Weiss (2005) experience in the 1990's suggests strongly that government initiatives to support the industrial sector will remain important, but should now focus principally on measures like infrastructure provision, particularly related to information communications technology, education and skill development and fostering innovation in frontier technologies. This is a challenging agenda, but quite different from that faced by industrial planners 30 years ago.

Secondly, though this paper concentrates on how exchange policy influences the evolution of labour intensive exports and hence employment, issues about the specificity of exchange rate policy still remain important more so with the recent proposal by the pioneer of inflation targeting New Zealand to have the capacity to intervene in the foreign exchange market. According to the proposal, "...the Reserve Bank is proposing that when the New Zealand dollar is exceptionally and quite clearly unjustifiably high, the Reserve Bank could sell New Zealand dollars to buy foreign exchange, in a manner designed to put downward pressure on the exchange rate. Equally, when the exchange rate is exceptionally and clearly unjustifiably low, we could sell foreign exchange to buy New Zealand dollars, in a manner designed to put upwards pressure on the exchange rate".

Part of the proposal also highlights why the exchange rate is an issue in New Zealand. Firstly, it argues that, "...the amplitude of the New Zealand exchange rate cycle has long been a concern. The exchange rate varies across the cycle to a far greater extent than the underlying economic situation warrants. That is, the degree of exchange rate variation goes beyond that which is useful to the economy in terms of absorbing economic shocks and motivating business and household to adjust to lasting changes in New Zealand's external trading situation. Excess exchange rate variation makes engaging in business more difficult, reducing investment and thereby restricting the opportunities for New Zealand's growth. Excessive exchange rate variability can also make the Bank's task of achieving and maintaining price stability more difficult, potentially leading to unnecessary output, inflation and interest rate variability".



Secondly, "This excess variation is not confined to the New Zealand dollar. It is a feature of floating exchange rates - and indeed the New Zealand dollar is not the most variable exchange rate amongst the developed country group. Nor is it a new issue. But as inflation has been brought down and stabilised around the world, and as a result economies have become more stable overall, exchange rates cycles have not noticeably diminished. Excessive exchange rate variation stands out more obviously in this context as an unresolved issue."

Thirdly, one of the main conclusions from the experience of HPAEs is forceful and well communicated industrial policy and market access arrangements will be critical for success. Furthermore, it is also clear from the above literature that the exchange rate played a very important role in the success of almost all of the EA economies. Exchange rate policy is, however, only one element of a labour absorbing growth strategy and as such the precise causality needs consideration. A free float does not appear to have been the policy adopted by high growth labour absorbing economies. This does not mean that pegged currencies or managed floats are a recipe for success. But they do seem to have offered some stability, with exchange rate policy serving the role of keeping exports competitive to allow them access in international markets. By looking at the array of policies that where used in EA it is clear that though the exchange rate was and in some respects still remains an important arsenal in the EA model, it does not follow that by adopting exchange rate policies similar to those in EA a country will meet with the same success as the EA economies. The success of an intermediate regime should be seen as part of a broader policy framework that wields support from a number of supporting policies. The export led strategy has to reflect the fundamental developmental strategy of a country, which is not only endorsed by government but by all stake holders (the private sector and labour). The phenomenal growth archived by EA economies will be difficult to replicate, very few countries will be able to implement the many different policy instruments which sometimes included extensive government intervention in markets, to guide private sector resource allocation.

With respect to the latter, the World Bank (1993) notes that the HPAEs did not pursue the functions of growth per se but rather, they used multiple shifting policy instruments in pursuit of more straightforward economic objectives such as macroeconomic stability, rapid export growth, and high savings. "Pragmatic flexibility in the pursuit of such objectives -the capacity and willingness to change policies- is as much a hallmark of the HPAEs as any single policy instrument. This is well illustrated by the great variety of ways in which the HPAEs achieved two important objectives: macroeconomic stability and rapid export growth". It is, however, also important to note that the case of a intermediate option as spelt out by Williamson is quite compelling and the evidence on growth accelerations over the past two decades or so seems to suggest that they is definitely a case for considering such a regime. More so in a global economy where unregulated capital flows can cause large swings in a countries exchange rate policy leading to misalignments that can be highly disruptive to a country's export sector.

Fourth, central to the East Asian strategy is the notion of an engine for growth, which was used, in their catch-up process. This engine of growth in all the countries centred around exports with Korea's first five year plan in the 60s promoting the ideology of, "Exports First". One then sees the whole array of developmental policies and energies

in these countries being focused on achieving this all-consuming goal of growing their exports. For South Africa one can argue that it could make significant strides by coming up with what it deems as an appropriate engine of growth in its catch up process and then directing its battery of polices to ensure that this engine is kept running so as to deliver the much needed mileage in terms of reducing unemployment and poverty.

Fifth, the case of Chile shows that it is possible of a country to make significant macroeconomic gains beyond those that are engendered by its resource endowment. The case of Brazil during its period of growth clearly highlights among other things the fact that exchange rate stability is important for export performance. Whereas the case of Ireland shows that industrial policy specifically polices aimed at attracting FDI are important in turning the economic fortunes of a country.

In conclusion there are a number of issues that this paper still needs to look at which will be addressed in future drafts. We need to make a closer link between exchange rates and employment by analysing how they played through the economies of high growth countries. The analysis should also be broadened to include a review of other high growth countries, which do not fall under the HPAEs. Issues that surround specific aspects of their exchange rate policies such as; by how much did they devalue, with what periodisation? What was the impact on other macro-variables such as inflation? What where the incentive structures that encourage domestic investment?



## References

Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, (1997), "Optimal pegs for Asian currencies", CEPII, document de travail nº 97-14

Asian Development Bank Institute, (2002), "Assessing East-Asian Export Performance," ADBI Research Policy Brief No. 1 Trade & Export Competitiveness

Barry, Frank, (1999), "FDI and Industrial Structure in Ireland, Spain, Portugal and the UK: Some Preliminary Results," Paper presented to Annual Conference on the European Economy, ISEG, Lisbon, December 1999

Bénassy-Quéré, Agnès; Lionel Fontagné and Amina Lahrèche-Révil, (1999), "Exchange rate Strategies in the Competition for Attracting FDI", CEPII, document de travail n° 99-16

Beng, Gan Wee, (2000), "Exchange-rate policy in East Asia after the fall: how much have things changed?" Journal of Asian Economics 11 (2000) 403–430

Brzozowski, Micha , (2003), "Exchange Rate Variability and Foreign Direct Investment – Consequences of EMU Enlargement," Centre for Social and Economic Research Working Paper 258

Calvo G. A. and C. M. Reinhart, (2000), "Fear of floating", Nation Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 7993

Dixit, A., and Pindyck, R. (1994), "Investment under Uncertainty", Princeton University Press.

Dooley, Michael; Rudi Dornbusch, and Yung Chul Park, (2001), "A Framework for Exchange Rate Policy in Korea", in Korean Crisis and Recovery, David T. Coe and Se-Jik Kim, eds. International Monetary Fund, Korea Institute for international Economic Policy, Washington, D.C. 2002 Papers presented at a conference held May 17-19, 2001 at the Shilla Hotel in Seoul, Korea.

Dubas, Justin M.; Byung-Joo Lee and Nelson C. Mark, (2005), "Effective Exchange Rate Classifications and Growth", NBER Working Paper Series, Working Paper 11272

Fang, WenShwo; YiHao Lai and Stephen M. Miller, (2005), "Export Promotion through Exchange Rate Policy: Exchange Rate Depreciation or Stabilization?", University of Connecticut Working Paper Series 2005-07

Ffrench-Davis, Ricardo (2002) Economic Reforms in Chile: From Dictatorship to Democracy. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Filiztekin, Alpay, (2005) "Exchange rates and employment in Turkish manufacturing," International Finance 0501004, Economics Working Paper Archive at WUSTL Frenkel Roberto and Lance Taylor (2005), "Real Exchange Rate, Monetary Policy and Employment: Economic Development in a Garden of Forking Paths", Paper prepared for a High-Level United Nations Development Conference, New York, 14-15 March 2005.

Frenkel, Roberto (2004), "Real Exchange Rate and Employment in Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Mexico", Paper presented at the XIX G24 Technical Group Meeting September 27-28, 2004 IMF Headquarters, Washington, DC

Fukasaku Ki, (2004), "Overview: Miracle, Crisis and Beyond", OECD Development Centre, Revised version of the earlier draft prepared for the Mid-Term Review Meeting held on 19-20 April 2004 at the OECD Headquarters, Paris

Ghosh, A. R., A. M. Gulde, J. D. Ostry, and H. Wolf, "Does the Exchange Rate Regime Matter for Inflation and Growth", IMF Economic Issues 2, 1996.

Golub Stephen S. and Janet Ceglowski (2002), "South African Real Exchange Rates and Manufacturing Competitiveness", South African Department of Finance ???

Gore, Charles, (1996), "Methodological Nationalism and the Misunderstanding of East Asian Industrialisation", European Journal of Development Research, Jun96, Vol. 8 Issue 1, p77, 46p

Haggard, Stephan, (1996), "Lessons from Successful Reformers: Korea and Taiwan", Economic Reform Today, Constructing a Market Economy, Number 2, Centre for International Private Enterprise

Hausmann, Ricardo; Lant Pritchett and Dani Rodrik (2004) "Growth Accelerations", John F. Kennedy School of Government Working Paper No. RWP04-030

Hill, Hal, (1997), "Towards a Political Economy Explanation of Rapid Growth in ASEAN: A Survey and Analysis", ASEAN Economic Bulletin Vol. 14, No. 2

Hong, Wontack, (1998) "The Korean Economy", Seoul National University http://gias.snu.ac.kr/wthong/course/KoEco/koeco.htm

Huang, Haizhou and Priyanka Malhotra, (2004), "Exchange Rate Regimes and Economic Growth: Evidence from Developing Asian and Advanced European Economies", Research Department, International Monetary Fund

Ito, Takatoshi and Anne O. Krueger, (1999), (ed) Changes in Exchange Rates in Rapidly Developing Countries: Theory, Practice, and Policy Issues, NBER – East Asia Seminar on Economics, Volume 7, Chicago

Kiyota, Kozo and Shujiro Urata, (2004), "Exchange Rate, Exchange Rate Volatility and Foreign Direct Investment", The World Economy, Volume 27 Issue 10 Page 1501

Krugman , Paul, (1994), "The myth of Asia's miracle", Foreign Affairs New York Nov/Dec 1994, 73 Issue: 6



Levy-Yeyati, E. and F. Sturzenegger (2003). "To Float or to Fix: Evidence on the Impact of Exchange Rate Regimes on Growth." American Economic Review 93(4): 1173-93

Levy-Yeyati, Eduardo and Federico Sturzenegger, (2005), "Classifying exchange rate regimes: Deeds vs. words", European Economic Review 49 (2005) 1603 – 1635

Lewis, W.A. (1954), 'Economic Development with Unlimited Supplies of Labour', The Manchester School, 22, 2: 139-191.

Maier, Rolf, 2005. "Exchange Rate Regimes and Pro-Poor Growth," International Finance 0504008, Economics Working Paper Archive at WUSTL.

Mamalakis, Markos (1976) The Growth and Structure of the Chilean Economy. New Haven and London: Yale University Press.

McKenzie M D. 1999. "The Impact of Exchange Rate Volatility on International Trade Flows", Journal of Economic Surveys Vol.13, No.1: 71-106.

McKibbin, Warwick J. and Hong-Giang Le, (2002), "Which Exchange Rate Regime for Asia?", Revised version of a paper prepared for AJRC, CCER conference on "Future Financial Arrangements in East Asia" held in Beijing on March 24-25

McKinnon Ronald I., (1999), "The East Asian Dollar Standard, Life After Death?", Presented at a Workshop on "Rethinking the East Asian Miracle" for Economic Development Institute (EDI) World Bank at The Asia Foundation San Francisco, California February 16-17, 1999

McKinnon Ronald I., (2000), "After the Crisis, the East Asian Dollar Standard Resurrected: An Interpretation of High-Frequency Exchange-Rate Pegging", University of Stanford Working Paper 00-013

Nelson, Richard, R., and Howard Pack, (1999), "The Asian Miracle and Modern Growth Theory" The Economic Journal, 109 (July), 416-436

Nucci F. and Pozzolo, A. F. (2004), "The Effects of Exchange Rate Fluctuations on Employment: An Analysis with Firm Level Panel Data", ??

O'Malley, E (1995), "An Analysis of Secondary Employment Associated with Manufacturing Industry," ESRI, Dublin Series - ESRI General Research Series No. 167 in Barry, Frank, (1999), "FDI and Industrial Structure in Ireland, Spain, Portugal and the UK: Some Preliminary Results," Paper presented to Annual Conference on the European Economy, ISEG, Lisbon, December 1999

Pain, N. and Wakelin, K., (1997), "Export Performance and the Role of Foreign Direct Investment", National Institute of Economic and Social Research Papers 131

Powell, Benjamin (2004), "State Development Planning: Did it Create an East Asian Miracle?", Independent Institute Working Paper Number 54

Exchange rates and employment: the experience of fast-growing economies

Rahmatsyah, Teuku; Gulasekaran Rajaguru and Reza Y. Siregar, (2002), "Exchange Rate Volatility, trade and "fixing for life" in Thailand", Japan and the World Economy 14 (2002) 445 - 470

Reserve Bank of New Zealand, (2004), "Background information on the Reserve Bank's proposal to extend the purpose for which it holds foreign exchange reserves", http://www.rbnz.govt.nz/finmarkets/foreignreserves/intervention/0147894.html

Robertson, Peter E., (2002), "Why The Tigers Roared: Capital Accumulation and the East Asian Miracle", Pacific Economic Review, 7: 2 (2002) pp. 259–274

Rodrik, Dani, (2004), "Rethinking Growth Policies in the Developing World" Draft of the Luca d'Agliano Lecture in Development Economics delivered on October 8, 2004, in Torino, Italy

Rogoff, Kenneth S.; Aasim M. Husain; Ashoka Mody; Robin Brooks, and Nienke Oomes, (2003), "Evolution and Performance of Exchange Rate Regimes", IMF Working Paper WP/03/243

Russ, K. Niles, (2002), "Exchange Rate Regimes and Foreign Direct Investment", Paper presented for the Ryerson University Conference on Exchange Rates, Economic Integration, and the International Economy

Russ, K. Niles, (2005), "The Endogeneity of the Exchange Rate as a Determinant of FDI: A Model of Money, Entry, and Multinational Firms", http://www.econ.ucdavis.edu/faculty/knruss/endogeneity.pdf

Saxena, Sweta Chaman, (2002), "Exchange Rate Dynamics in Indonesia: 1980 – 1998", Journal of Asian Economics 13 (2002) 545-563

Sekkat, Khalid and Aristomène Varoudakis, (2002), "The Impact of Trade and Exchange-Rate Policy Reforms on North African Manufactured Exports", Development Policy Review, 20 (2): 177 - 189

Singh, Ajit, (1998), "Savings, Investment and the Corporation in the East Asian Miracle", Journal of Development Studies, Aug98, Vol. 34 Issue 6, p112, 26p

Slavov, Slavi T., (2004), "Should Small Open Economies in East Asia Keep All Their Eggs in One Basket: The Role of Balance Sheet Effects", Department of Economics, Pomona College

Stix, Gary, and Wallich, Paul, (1995), "Miracles For Export", Scientific American, May 95, Vol. 272, Issue 5

Summers, Robert, and Alan Heston, (1991), "The Penn World Tables (Mark 5): An Expanded Set of International Comparisons, 1950-88." Quarterly Journal of Economics, 105(2).



Terry, Edith, (1996), "An East Asian Paradigm", AEJ September, Vol. 24, No 3

The Boston Consulting Group, (2004), "Export Development and Promotion Lessons from Four Benchmark Countries", Auckland, New Zealand

Weiss John, (2005), "Export Growth and Industrial Policy: Lessons from the East Asian Miracle experience", ADB Institute Discussion Paper No. 26

Williamson, J. 2000. Exchange Rate Regimes for Emerging Markets: Reviving the Intermediate Option. Washington, D.C.: Institute for International Economics.

World Bank, The East Asian Miracle: Economic Growth and Public Policy, a World Bank Policy Research Report, New York: Oxford University Press, 1993